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Author’s Personal Note

Evelyn M. Duffy has now assisted me on six books over 13 years on four presidents. A remarkable woman of depth and integrity, she believes that everyone should be held accountable, including and especially me. She is an organizational genius who effectively has acquired multiple PhDs in the presidency, government, journalism and modern life. She insisted that everyone in this book get the fairest treatment possible, including President Trump. She kept her eyes on that prize and worked tirelessly to see it fulfilled. Cheerful and authentic, she has the stamina of half a dozen. As the nominal boss, I realize that her level of engagement is not something that can be required or purchased. It is only something she could give. She did. For Evelyn, it is a way of life. Once again she served as full collaborator and in the spirit—and with the level of effort—of a coauthor.

Steve Reilly came to work with Evelyn and myself just under a year ago. He is one of the hardest workers I’ve ever seen. “Do you mind if I come in and work Sunday?” was a common request. “Okay,” I’d say, without hesitation. He gives new life and meaning to the archetypal image of the dogged, relentless investigative reporter staying all night in the newsroom. He has a gentle and pleasant demeanor, and inwardly is tough as steel. He insists on verification for everything; no fact or nuance goes unchecked. Steve spent five years on USA Today’s investigative team and was a finalist for the 2017 Pulitzer Prize for Investigative Reporting. He has innate integrity, kindness and creativity. He is a true digger and searcher of the truth, and I thank him for his immeasurable contributions to this book. He has a great future in journalism, the profession I know he loves.



“I bring rage out. I do bring rage out. I always have. I don’t know if that’s an asset or a liability, but whatever it is, I do.”

Presidential candidate Donald J. Trump in an interview with Bob Woodward and Robert Costa on March 31, 2016, at the Old Post Office Pavilion, Trump International Hotel, Washington, D.C.

“This is when you said to us: ‘I bring out rage in people. I bring rage out. I always have. I don’t know if it’s an asset or a liability. But whatever it is, I do.’ Is that true?”

“Yes,” Trump said. “Sometimes. I do more things than other people are able to get done. And that, sometimes, can make my opponents unhappy. They view me differently than they view other presidents. A lot of other presidents that you’ve covered didn’t get a lot done, Bob.”

President Donald J. Trump in an interview with Bob Woodward for this book, June 22, 2020.






PROLOGUE
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During the Top Secret President’s Daily Brief the afternoon of Tuesday, January 28, 2020, discussion in the Oval Office turned to a mysterious pneumonia-like virus outbreak in China. Public health officials and President Trump himself were telling the public the virus was low-risk for the United States.

“This will be the biggest national security threat you face in your presidency,” Robert O’Brien, the national security adviser, told Trump, expressing a jarring, contrarian view as deliberately and as strongly as possible.

Trump’s head popped up. He asked the intelligence PDB briefer, Beth Sanner, several questions. She said China was worried, and the intelligence community was monitoring it, but it looked like this would not be anything nearly as serious as the deadly 2003 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) outbreak.

“This is going to be the roughest thing you face,” persisted O’Brien from his seat around the Resolute Desk, well aware that Trump was only midway through his impeachment trial in the Senate, which had begun twelve days earlier and was consuming his attention. O’Brien believed the national security adviser had to try to see around corners, a duty to warn of an impending disaster. And this problem was urgent, not some geopolitical issue that might happen three years down the road. This virus could develop very quickly in the United States.

O’Brien, 53, a lawyer, author and former international hostage negotiator, was Trump’s fourth national security adviser. He had been in the key post only four months and did not consider himself a pound-your-fist-on-the-table kind of person, but he felt passionate that the outbreak was a real threat.

“I agree with that conclusion,” said Matt Pottinger, the deputy national security adviser, from a couch further back in the Oval Office. Trump knew Pottinger, 46, who had been with the National Security Council staff for three years since the beginning of the Trump presidency, was uniquely, almost perfectly, qualified to deliver such an assessment.

His warning was authoritative and carried great weight. Pottinger had lived in China seven years and been a Wall Street Journal reporter there during the SARS outbreak. A China scholar, he spoke fluent Mandarin.

Affable, profane and a workaholic, Pottinger also was a decorated former Marine intelligence officer, a job that culminated in coauthoring an influential report about the inadequacies of U.S. intelligence agencies.

Pottinger knew firsthand that the Chinese were masters at concealing trouble and covering it up. He had written over 30 stories about SARS and how the Chinese had intentionally withheld information for months about its seriousness and vastly understated its spread, a mishandling that allowed SARS to move around the globe. The Journal had submitted his work for a Pulitzer Prize.

“What do you know?” Trump asked Pottinger.

For the last four days, Pottinger said he had been working the phones calling doctors in China and Hong Kong he had maintained contact with and who understood the science. He’d also been reading Chinese social media.

“Is this going to be as bad as ’03?” he had asked one of his contacts in China.

“Don’t think SARS 2003,” the expert replied. “Think influenza pandemic 1918.”

Pottinger said he had been floored. The so-called Spanish Flu pandemic of 1918 killed an estimated 50 million people worldwide with about 675,000 deaths in the United States.

“Why do you think it will be worse than 2003?” asked the president.

Pottinger’s contacts told him three factors were dramatically accelerating the transmission of the new disease. Contrary to official hedged reports from the Chinese government, people were getting the disease easily from other people, not just animals; this is called human-to-human spread. He had just learned that morning it was being spread by people who didn’t show any symptoms; this is called asymptomatic spread. His best, most authoritative source said 50 percent were infected but showed no symptoms. This meant a once-in-a-lifetime health emergency, a virus out of control with a vast amount of the spread not immediately detectable. And it had already traveled far from Wuhan, China, where the outbreak apparently began. To Pottinger, these were the three alarms of a three-alarm fire.

Most troubling, Pottinger said, the Chinese had essentially quarantined Wuhan, a city of 11 million people, larger than any American city. People could not travel within China, say from Wuhan to Beijing. But they had not cut off travel from China to the rest of the world, including the United States. That meant a highly infectious and devastating virus was probably already silently streaming into the U.S.

“What do we do about it?” the president asked.

Cut off travel from China to the United States, Pottinger said.



Pottinger was confident the information from his sources was solid, based on hard data, not speculation. He’d launched an in-depth examination of the new virus. The first case outside China had been reported on January 13 in Thailand. Clearly the virus was spreading human-to-human.

Top officials at the Centers for Disease Control, the nation’s chief public health agency, had also been reporting with increasing alarm to Pottinger that they had been trying for weeks to send the crack U.S. disease detectives from the Epidemic Intelligence Service to China to see what was going on. The Chinese had stonewalled, refusing to cooperate and share samples of the virus as required by international agreement.

The head of the Chinese CDC had sounded like a hostage in one phone call, and the Chinese health minister also refused U.S. assistance.

Pottinger had seen this movie before. He picked up the pace of his calls the weekend of January 24–26. “I came out of that weekend with my hair standing on end,” Pottinger said privately.

Several Chinese elites well connected with the Communist Party and government signaled that they thought China had a sinister goal: “China’s not going to be the only one to suffer from this.” If China was the only country to have mass infections on the scale of the 1918 pandemic, they would be at a massive economic disadvantage. It was a suspicion, but one held by the people who knew the regime best. A frightening possibility. Pottinger, a China hawk, was not ready to make a judgment on China’s intent one way or the other. Most likely the outbreak was accidental. But he was certain the United States was in for an unparalleled health onslaught. And China’s lack of transparency would only make it worse. With SARS the Chinese had egregiously concealed the outbreak of a dangerous new infectious disease for three months.



Three days later, on January 31, the president did impose restrictions on travelers from China, a move opposed by a number of his cabinet members. But his public attention was focused on just about everything except the virus: the upcoming Super Bowl, the technological meltdown in the Democratic caucuses in Iowa, his State of the Union address and, most importantly, the impeachment trial in the Senate. When the highly infectious respiratory disease caused by the novel coronavirus, known as Covid-19, did come up in settings where he had an opportunity to reach a large number of Americans, Trump continued to reassure the public they faced little risk.

“How concerned are you” about coronavirus? Fox’s Sean Hannity asked Trump on February 2 near the end of a pre–Super Bowl game interview focused largely on the unfairness of impeachment and his 2020 Democratic rivals.

“We pretty much shut it down coming in from China,” Trump said. Something of a pregame presidential tradition, the interview drew the largest ever audience for the controversial and popular talk show host. “We’re offering tremendous help. We have the best in the world for that.… But we can’t have thousands of people coming in who may have this problem, the coronavirus.”

That morning, even National Security Adviser O’Brien, who had issued the ominous warning just days earlier, had said on CBS’s Face the Nation, “Right now, there’s no reason for Americans to panic. This is something that is a low-risk, we think, in the U.S.”

Two days later on February 4, nearly 40 million Americans tuned in to watch the president’s annual State of the Union address, a constitutionally mandated update to Congress about the most pressing issues facing the country. The speech is the highest visibility moment for a president to address matters of great importance. About halfway through the lengthy speech, Trump mentioned coronavirus in one short paragraph. “Protecting Americans’ health also means fighting infectious diseases. We are coordinating with the Chinese government and working closely together on the coronavirus outbreak in China,” Trump said. “My administration will take all necessary steps to safeguard our citizens from this threat.”

That did not, however, include sharing any part of the warning he had received with the public.

When I later asked the president about the warning from O’Brien, he said he didn’t recall it. “You know, I’m sure he said it,” Trump said. “Nice guy.”

And in an interview with President Trump on March 19, six weeks before I learned of O’Brien’s and Pottinger’s warnings, the president said his statements in the early weeks of the virus had been deliberately designed to not draw attention to it.

“I wanted to always play it down,” Trump told me. “I still like playing it down, because I don’t want to create a panic.”



Trump called me at home about 9:00 p.m. on Friday, February 7, 2020. Since he had been acquitted in the Senate impeachment trial two days earlier, I expected he would be in a good mood.

“Now we’ve got a little bit of an interesting setback with the virus going in China,” he said. He had spoken with President Xi Jinping of China the night before.

“Setback?” I was surprised the virus was on his mind, rather than his acquittal. There were only 12 confirmed cases in the United States. The first reported coronavirus death in the United States was three weeks away. The news had been all impeachment all the time.

The Chinese were very focused on the virus, Trump said.

“I think that that goes away in two months with the heat,” Trump said. “You know as it gets hotter that tends to kill the virus. You know, you hope.”

He added, “We had a great talk for a long time. But we have a good relationship. I think we like each other a lot.”

I reminded the president that in earlier interviews for this book he had told me he had harshly confronted President Xi about the Made in China 2025 plan to overtake the United States and become the world’s leading producer in high-tech manufacturing in 10 industries from driverless cars to biomedicine. “That’s very insulting to me,” Trump had told Xi. The president had also said with fierce pride that he was “breaking China’s ass on trade” and caused China’s annual economic growth rate to go negative.

“Oh, yeah, we’ve had some arguments,” Trump acknowledged.

So what had President Xi said yesterday?

“Oh, we were talking mostly about the virus,” Trump said.

Why? I wondered. “Mostly?”

“And I think he’s going to have it in good shape,” Trump said, “but you know, it’s a very tricky situation.”

What made it “tricky”?

“It goes through air,” Trump said. “That’s always tougher than the touch. You don’t have to touch things. Right? But the air, you just breathe the air and that’s how it’s passed. And so that’s a very tricky one. That’s a very delicate one. It’s also more deadly than even your strenuous flus.”

“Deadly” was a very strong word. Something was obviously going on here that I was not focused on. Over the next month I would make trips to Florida and the West Coast, oblivious to the mounting pandemic. At this point I also was not aware O’Brien had told the president that the virus “will be the biggest national security threat you face in your presidency.” I’d heard no one calling for any change in Americans’ behavior other than not traveling to China. Americans went about their daily lives, including more than 60 million who traveled by air domestically that month.

In our call, Trump had surprising detail about the virus.

Trump continued, “Pretty amazing. This is more deadly” than the flu, maybe five times more so.

“This is deadly stuff,” Trump repeated. He praised President Xi. “I think he’s going to do a good job. He built a number of hospitals in record-setting time. They know what they’re doing. They’re very organized. And we’ll see. We’re working with them. We’re sending them things, in terms of equipment and lots of other things. And the relationship is very good. Much better than before. It was strained because of the [trade] deal.”



My first book on his presidency, Fear: Trump in the White House, had been published 17 months before this February 7 phone call. Fear described Trump as “an emotionally overwrought, mercurial and unpredictable leader” who had created a governing crisis and “a nervous breakdown of the executive power of the most powerful country in the world.”

While discussing Fear on television, I was asked for my bottom-line summary of Trump’s leadership. “Let’s hope to God we don’t have a crisis,” I said.

Trump had declined to be interviewed for Fear but regularly told aides he wished he had cooperated. So for this book he agreed to be interviewed. By February 7, we were on our sixth of what would be 17 interviews.

I asked, “What’s the plan for the next eight to 10 months?”

“Just do well,” Trump replied. “Just do well. Run the country well.”

“Help me define ‘well,’ ” I said.

“Look,” Trump said, “when you’re running a country it’s full of surprises. There’s dynamite behind every door.”

Years ago, I had once heard a similar expression used by military forces to describe the hazards and nerve-racking emotions of house-to-house searches in a violent combat zone.

I was surprised at this “dynamite behind every door” language from Trump. Instead of being his usual upbeat, cheerleading or angry self, the president sounded foreboding, even unconfident with a touch of unexpected fatalism.

“You want to say, good, but then something happens,” Trump continued. “Boeing happens, as an example. Boeing was the greatest company in the world, and all the sudden it has a big, big misstep. And it hurts the country.” Boeing is still reeling from problems with its 737-MAX airplane, which had been grounded in 2019 after back-to-back fatal crashes within five months in Indonesia and Ethiopia, killing all 346 people on board.

“General Motors goes out on strike,” Trump said, giving another example. Nearly 50,000 autoworkers had held a 40-day strike in the fall of 2019. “They shouldn’t have gone. They should have been able to work that out. But they couldn’t do it. They go on strike. Hundreds of thousands of people aren’t working. All of this stuff happens. And you have to make it good.”

“There’s dynamite behind every door” seemed the most self-aware statement about the jeopardy, pressures and responsibilities of the presidency I had heard Trump make in public or private.

Yet the unexpected headline from the call was also his detailed knowledge of the virus and his description of it as so deadly so early in February, more than a month before it began to engulf him, his presidency and the United States. And so at odds with his public tone.

The details from his call with Xi were troubling. I only later learned that much more had been hidden: that his top White House national security advisers had warned him of impending disaster in the U.S. and believed China and Xi could not be trusted; that his top health advisers had tried desperately to get their medical team into China to investigate; that Trump himself had offered to help Xi and been personally rebuffed.

Xi was concealing a lot. So was Trump.

Who was responsible for the failure to warn the American public of the coming pandemic? Where was the breakdown? What leadership decisions did Trump make or fail to make in the crucial early weeks? It would take me months to get answers to those questions.

After reporting Fear, I thought it was likely the potential crisis I worried about might arise from foreign affairs where Trump had the least experience and took the greatest risks. So when I began my new reporting for this book last year, well before the arrival of the virus, I decided to look again and more deeply at the national security team he recruited and built in the first months after his election in 2016.

I now see that Trump’s handling of the virus—certainly the greatest test for him and his presidency, at least so far—reflects the instincts, habits and style acquired in the first years as president and over the course of a lifetime.

One of the great questions of any presidency is: How does it end? But so is the question: How did it begin? So we turn there.






ONE
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Shortly before the Thanksgiving holiday of 2016, retired Marine General James Mattis saw a call from an unknown Indiana number flash on his cell phone screen. Not knowing anyone from there, he ignored it.

He was volunteering at the local Tri-Cities Food Bank in Richland, Washington, his childhood home on the Columbia River, where his mother and brother still lived.

When a second call came from Indiana, he answered.

“This is Mike Pence.”

Mattis didn’t know a Mike Pence, but quickly realized he was speaking with the vice president–elect.

The president-elect would like to talk to you about the secretary of defense job, Pence said.

I am happy to give him my advice, Mattis said, but I am not eligible. To preserve strict civilian control, the law prohibits anyone who has been a military officer in the last seven years from serving as defense secretary. The only exception had been World War II General George Marshall, who had received a waiver in 1950 and been a national hero.

Given the raging partisan divisions in Washington, Mattis privately believed Democrats in Congress would never support such a waiver.

But Mattis did want to talk to Trump, and agreed to fly east. He wanted to persuade Trump to question his positions on NATO and torture. Trump had called the military alliance “obsolete” and promised to bring back the “enhanced interrogation techniques” on suspected terrorists that President Barack Obama had banned. Mattis thought Trump was wrong on both counts.

One thing was clear in Mattis’s mind: He did not want the job. Mattis had boundless love for the Marine Corps, but not Washington, D.C. Mattis had been commander of U.S. Central Command, known as CentCom, from 2010 to 2013, overseeing the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan. He was fired by Obama due to his aggressiveness toward Iran when Obama was negotiating a nuclear deal with Iran.

Shortly after arriving at Trump’s golf club in Bedminster, New Jersey, on Saturday, November 19, Mattis was escorted to an informal gathering around a table with Trump, Pence, chief strategist Steve Bannon, Ivanka Trump and Trump’s son-in-law, Jared Kushner.

Mattis had a stoic Marine exterior and attention-getting ramrod posture, but his bright, open and inviting smile softened his presence.

Right up front, Trump questioned the value of NATO, which had been formed by ten European countries, the United States and Canada at the end of World War II as a safeguard against Soviet aggression. In 2016 there were 28 member nations.

The other countries of NATO, these European allies, are taking us to the cleaners, Trump said. The United States didn’t need NATO. We pay and they get protected. They take us for all we’re worth and they’re not giving enough in exchange.

No, Mattis insisted, if we didn’t have NATO we would have to invent it and build it because we need it so badly. You know how you build your big, tall buildings? You’d build NATO.

Huh? said Trump.

The NATO countries, which pledge that an attack against one is an attack against all, went to war after your hometown of New York City was attacked, Mattis reminded him. NATO troops were sent to Afghanistan after the 9/11 terrorist attacks on the United States. Several of those countries have lost more boys per capita in Afghanistan than we have. They’ve been bleeding.

Yes, they have to do more, Mattis said. You’re absolutely right they need to spend more of their GDP on defense. You’re absolutely right to press them. I’ll even tell you how I’d take the message to them. We need to let them know that we are not going to keep telling American parents they have to care more about protecting European kids than Europeans care.

But, Mattis continued, NATO held the line against Soviet aggression during the Cold War until the internal rot of the Soviet Union collapsed upon itself. NATO prevented real war on the European continent. We need NATO.

To Mattis’s surprise, Trump did not argue. He seemed to be listening.

The president-elect next voiced approval of torture as the quickest way to obtain information from captured terrorists.

Mattis didn’t want to spend time explaining the origins of his personal philosophy. He subscribed to the beliefs of General John Lejeune, the legendary World War I general often described as the greatest Marine of all time. Lejeune believed the Corps not only had to make efficient fighters, but return better citizens to society. Inflicting torture caused spiritual damage and produced horrible people, Mattis believed. It undermined the country’s moral authority.

Instead, he only said to Trump, “We have to recognize that torture damages us. With a cup of coffee and a cigarette you can get just as much out of them.”

Trump was listening attentively, and Mattis was again somewhat surprised.

Next up was the intelligence community, another subject of Trump’s criticism during the campaign.

“We have the best spies in the world,” Mattis said. “I’m probably the first general in history—for three years at CentCom I was never surprised on a strategic or operational matter. Not once.”

Ivanka Trump, the president-elect’s daughter, asked how long it would take to review and rewrite the strategy to defeat ISIS, the violent Islamic State of Iraq and Syria terrorist group which had sprung from the remnants of al Qaeda in Iraq and spread into Syria as it tried to create a caliphate in the Arab world.

Trump had promised in the campaign to “knock the hell out of” ISIS. Mattis, surprised the question had come from Ivanka, said it would take months to review. The strategy needed to radically change from a slow war of attrition to one of “annihilation.” Time was a key issue. Slow wars were losing ones for the United States.

Mattis could see Trump was proud Ivanka had weighed in.

“Is your name Mad Dog?” Trump asked. “Your nickname?”

“No, sir.”

“What is it?”

“Chaos.”

“I don’t like that name,” said Trump.

“Well, that’s my name.”

“I thought it was Mad Dog.”

No, that came from someone else. Mattis blamed the media.

“Do you mind if I change your name to Mad Dog?”

“You can sort of do whatever you want.”

“Mad Dog Mattis,” Trump said. “That works out great.” Can you do the job?

Government service in any form, Mattis believed, was both an honor and an obligation. He hadn’t wanted the job, but when the commander in chief called, you accepted without hesitation—no Hamlet wringing his hands at the wall, debating with himself, “To be or not to be.”

He said he could. But Trump did not want to announce it publicly yet. Getting a waiver should be easy, he said.

After the 40-minute interview, Trump said they were going to appear before the press. Did Mattis want to say anything?

No, thank you.

Steve Bannon had arranged for the photo of Trump and Mattis to resemble 10 Downing Street—the British prime minister before a large door. The media would be across the street and Trump would be the leader.

“All I can say is he is the real deal!” Trump said to the press. Mattis stood coolly silent.

Trump later tweeted: “General James ‘Mad Dog’ Mattis, who is being considered for Secretary of Defense, was very impressive yesterday.”

Mattis had a general operating philosophy which he articulated many times over the years: “You don’t always control your circumstances, but you can control your response.”

He called his mother, Lucille, who was 94 years old. She had served in Army intelligence in World War II. He knew she hated Trump.

“How can you work for that man?” she asked.

“Ma, last time I checked, I work for the Constitution. I’ll go back and read it again.”

“All right,” she said. “All right.”






TWO
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Right after the election, Rex Tillerson, the longtime CEO of ExxonMobil, received phone messages from Steve Bannon and Jared Kushner. Tillerson, who had run the largest publicly traded oil and gas company in the world for nearly eleven years, was the embodiment of Big Oil. A Texan with a smooth voice and easy laugh, he was a highly disciplined rider and breeder of cutting horses on his 83-acre ranch near Dallas. He ignored their calls.

Then Vice President–elect Pence called. Tillerson decided to take the call.

“The president-elect’s been told you know a lot of world leaders,” Pence said, “and you know a lot about the current situation around the world. Would you be willing to come up and give him a briefing?”

“I’ll be happy to do that,” Tillerson said. He often briefed presidents, but he wasn’t keen on making a high-visibility walk through the lobby of Trump Tower. “I’m not going to come through those front doors by those gilded elevators and do the press walk.”

Pence promised they would slip him in discreetly.

Tillerson, 64, arrived at Trump Tower on December 6 and rode up on the private elevator. With a swept-back mane of gray hair and a big Texas drawl, he stood out. Bannon and the designated White House chief of staff Reince Priebus greeted and escorted him into a side conference room.

“You’re not a Never Trumper are you?” Priebus asked.

Tillerson wasn’t absolutely sure what that was, but got the idea, and said no.

“Have you ever said anything negative about the president-elect?” Bannon asked.

“Not that I recall, Steve.”

“We noticed you didn’t contribute anything.”

“I don’t do political contributions,” Tillerson replied, trying to sidestep the question. “I’ve found it’s not particularly healthy in the job I’m in.” He was a lifelong Republican. His wife, Renda, had paid $2,500 to go to a Trump lunch.

Records show Tillerson made more than $100,000 in contributions in the 2016 election cycle, including $2,700 to Trump’s competitor Jeb Bush. Since 2000 he has made more than $400,000 in contributions.

“Did you vote in the election?”

“Yes.”

“Who’d you vote for?”

“I voted for President-elect Trump.”

Okay, okay, let’s go in and see him.

Tillerson found the political vetting heavy-handed and slightly weird.

Trump was sitting at his desk and rose to greet his visitor. Trump had been such a dominant television presence that to see him in person was a little jarring.

Campaign material—stuffed animals and hats—littered the office. Disneyland, Tillerson thought.

Everyone sat down. Jared Kushner joined them.

“So tell me what’s going on around the world,” Trump asked.

“You’ve been dealt a really difficult hand in foreign affairs,” Tillerson said. As Exxon’s CEO, he traveled the world and met with heads of state. “I’ve been listening to these world leaders for the last eight years” during the Obama presidency. “The challenges now are as serious as any president has faced in my lifetime.”

Tillerson said his closest relationship was with Russian president Vladimir Putin, whom he visited regularly. Oil and gas amounted to over 60 percent of Russia’s exports, and Russia was Exxon’s biggest oil exploration area in the world, with holdings of more than 60 million acres. Exxon had a 30 percent interest in a Russian production-sharing agreement that produced oil and gas from fields in the Russian Far East. Exxon also had 7.5 percent ownership of a pipeline that transported oil from Kazakhstan to a Russian port on the Black Sea.

Let me tell you a story, Tillerson said, about a meeting with Putin two years before the U.S. presidential election.

“We were down in Sochi having a lunch, and I would always just try to ask questions to Putin and let him do the talking,” Tillerson said. It was not hard to get the Russian president to speak openly given Putin’s interest in the energy markets and new technologies.

“Well,” Putin said, “I’ve given up on your President Obama. He doesn’t do anything he says he’s going to do. I can’t deal with someone who won’t follow through on his promises. I’ll wait for your next president.” Tillerson said Putin looked directly at him, adding, “I know when that is.”

Seeing Trump had visibly perked up at the mention of Putin, Tillerson described an earlier conversation when Putin had said he disagreed with Obama’s decision in 2011 to intervene in the Libyan civil war, which resulted in the gruesome death of Libyan leader Muammar al-Qaddafi and the widespread upheaval and civil war it unleashed.

Putin said he had warned Obama. “I said to Obama, I understand you don’t like Qaddafi, but what comes after him? He couldn’t answer that. So I told him, well, until you can answer that, you shouldn’t go in,” Tillerson quoted Putin.

“The issue came before the United Nations Security Council,” Tillerson continued. “Putin could have blocked it. And Putin told me, ‘I called Obama. I told him I’m going to abstain for you.’ So Putin I think was trying to say to me, I was trying to work with this guy.

“So fast-forward to Syria,” Tillerson continued. “And when Obama drew the red line over the use of chemicals. Putin and Obama talked again. And Putin said, ‘Okay, I understand if you think you have to respond to that. But I’m not going to allow you to make the same mistake in Syria that you made in Libya because I have a stake in Syria. So let’s understand one another.’ That’s what Putin told me he said to Obama. So somewhere in the midst of that, Putin came to the conclusion this guy’s never going to fix anything. All he does is make it worse.

“Now Libya has turned into a mess,” Tillerson said to Trump. “The question you always have to ask yourself is do you know what’s going to come next? And of course we know the Libyan revolution helped ISIS. All the bad guys that formed ISIS, Muammar Qaddafi had them locked up in his prison.”

Tillerson added, “Putin feels like we treat Russia like a banana republic.” The year before, Tillerson said he had been tooling around the Black Sea on Putin’s yacht. “And he said to me, ‘You need to remember we’re a nuclear power. As powerful as you. You Americans think you won the Cold War. You did not win the Cold War. We never fought that war. We could have, but we didn’t.’ And that put chills up my spine.”

There is a significant opportunity here, Tillerson said. “When Putin said the breakup of the Soviet Union was the greatest tragedy of the twentieth century, it wasn’t because he loved communism. It was because Russia’s stature had been destroyed.

“Anybody who tries to think about Russia in terms of the Soviet era doesn’t know a thing about Russia. The seventy years of Soviet rule was a speed bump in Russian history and it had no lasting effect.

“If you want to understand Russia, they haven’t changed much culturally in 1,000 years. They are the most fatalistic people on the face of the earth, which is why they’re willing to live under lousy leaders. If you ask them about it, they’d say they don’t like it, but they’d say ‘Das Russia’—‘That’s Russia.’ They’d shrug their shoulders. I would talk to my Russian employees about it. Only one time did Russians rise up in revolution. And that didn’t turn out so well. So they look back on that and they say, Don’t do that again.”

Bottom line, Tillerson said, “You can deal with Putin. Obama was never able to. There is just a fundamental dislike of one another. Putin is a terrible racist, as we all know. All Russians are, generally. And Obama had a terrible disdain for Putin.”

Putin has a goal for Russia, Tillerson said. “They want recognition of their role in the global order. And Putin wants respect as a leader of a great country. We’ve never been willing to give him either.

“Now they view their role in the global world order as equivalent to ours. That’s what they seek.”

Trump seemed rapt at all this firsthand information about Putin.

Tillerson turned to Asia. “China is a different challenge for you. On the one hand, China’s rise, their economy, the lifting of 500 million people out of poverty to middle-class status, all of the economic benefits to the rest of the world—those are all good things.

“But China has gone too far in the South China Sea with the island building.” For years, the Chinese had been building military bases on the islands. They had vastly expanded their footprint by dumping sand and muck dredged from the ocean on top of the rock and reef formations, building man-made islands in order to set up more bases with an alarming array of military installations in the highly valuable international trade passage that threatened the U.S. Navy’s Pacific domination. Other countries in the region, most notably Japan, lay claim to part of the sea.

“That’s going to be your problem,” Tillerson said. Also, Hong Kong and Taiwan, he said. “You’re going to have to deal with a conflict with China over those.

“Russia is an immediate challenge to you. China is a long-term challenge.”

Tillerson continued his round-the-world tour. He talked extensively about the Middle East, where he also knew the leaders. He told Trump how some fifteen years ago he had been talking to Sheikh Mohammed bin Zayed, the powerful crown prince of the Emirates. “He was a pretty young guy. We were talking in his house. And he says, we don’t need nuclear weapons. As long as we have friends who have them.” The protective nuclear American umbrella was crucial.

The United States still had a dominant role in the world, Tillerson told Trump. “All the aces are still in the cards on the table.” In his view the four aces were military strength, economic strength, democracy and freedom, but Trump did not ask what they were.

“Your job is to draw every one of them out with the right politics and tactics,” he said, adding confidently, “Those aces belong to the United States of America.”

Ivanka Trump came into the room and Trump introduced her. She sat down and Trump stood up theatrically behind his desk.

“I really like everything you said,” Trump declared to Tillerson. “You clearly are a guy that knows the world. You’ve got these relationships. I’m sure you’ve been following the press. I’ve been talking to a lot of people about serving in my cabinet. I’ve got a lot of people that want some of these high-profile jobs.”

Uh-oh, Tillerson thought, here it comes, perhaps secretary of energy, a job that would be real easy to decline.

“You’re the perfect guy to be my secretary of state,” the president-elect said.

Tillerson lurched back.

“You’re surprised?” said Bannon.

“Yes, I am surprised,” Tillerson said, though he had—perhaps even intentionally—pushed all the buttons on Trump’s console, especially on the pathway to Putin. Tillerson then took a breath. “I’ve got a job,” he told Trump.

“But you’re going to retire pretty soon,” Trump said. He apparently had been prepped that Tillerson was three months away from Exxon’s mandatory retirement age of 65. His successor had already been picked and the transition was under way. “This is just three months early,” Trump added.

“This will be really hard to do,” Tillerson said. “It will be really hard for you. I would not be an easy person to get confirmed, you know. Chairman and CEO of ExxonMobil. We’re not exactly the most loved corporation in the world,” adding defensively, “undeservedly.”

“I really need you,” Trump said. “You’re the guy.”

Now Tillerson, like so many before him, was experiencing the almost irresistible call to presidential service.

“I’ve got to think this over. I would need to talk to my board, obviously. Look, it’s not a simple matter for me. Just personally and financially and my obligations to the ExxonMobil corporation”—40 years. “I don’t know if it’s doable.” He was worth hundreds of millions of dollars and was looking forward to retiring to the horse ranch he and his wife ran.

“When do you think you could give me an answer?” Trump asked.

It was now Tuesday, December 6. “I will commit to give you an answer by Friday.”

“I can hold off that long.”



Tillerson called his wife, Renda, from the car and said, “You’re not going to believe what just happened.”

“He asked you to be secretary of state,” she said.

“Well, how’d you know?”

“I told you God’s not through with you.”

In the car, Tillerson took stock and settled in for a little introspection. Had he failed to conceal a yearning from Renda? This was the job held by Jefferson, Madison, Monroe, Marshall. Fourth in line to the presidency. Had he hid his ambition even from himself? What did he really want? Whose interests should he serve? Could he find the proper version of all his obligations? To Renda, Exxon, the country and now, of all things, Donald Trump?

Back home, Renda had some answers. As you’ve approached retirement you’ve become irritable, she said. Subconsciously, she believed, he was worried about that terrible question: What am I going to do?

“Look,” she told him, “you’ve been in training for this for the last twenty years. You are supposed to help this man. He needs your help. You need to go help him.”

Tillerson thought he had every reason in the world not to take the job. If Renda had not said all that to him, he believed he would have talked himself out of it.

He had not served in the military and always felt uneasy about that. Was this his time to serve his country? For the moment, he had the upper hand. Trump was waiting for his answer. So he called Reince Priebus.

“I’ve got three questions for the president-elect,” he said.

“Okay, shoot. What are they?”

“Reince, I’m not going to give them to you. I’ve got to ask them of the president face-to-face. I have to see his answers.”

Priebus arranged for Tillerson to see Trump at his residence in New York on Saturday.

Tillerson meanwhile talked to longtime Republican friends who had served as secretary of state—Condoleezza Rice (four years for George W. Bush), James A. Baker III (three years for George H. W. Bush) and George Shultz (six years for Ronald Reagan). He reminded them he was coming from Big Oil and he did not want to cause a problem for himself or the newly elected president. They were public service mavens. The advice was unanimous: You must do it. When the president asks, if it is in the realm of the possible and if it is legal, you respond with a yes.

Tillerson visited Trump at his residence in private.

“I want the freedom to pick my own people,” he asked the president-elect. “I understand if there’s somebody that’s just highly objectionable to you,” Tillerson said. In the end, it was the president’s decision and responsibility to nominate someone. “But I hope I’ll have the freedom to put the team together that I feel I’ll need to help you.”

“Done,” Trump said.

“The second question, I want your assurance that when we get into this, you will never withdraw my nomination. Because I’m going to be a very difficult confirmation.” He was aware that presidents often folded when controversy hit. The Big Oil executive would inevitably draw fire. “And I don’t want you spending any of your political capital on me. I’ll get this done myself, or I won’t get it done. And if they vote me down, it’s not the end of my life. I’ll go home and pick up where I left off. You’ve got to assure me you won’t give up and give in.”

“Okay,” Trump said. “They’re going to confirm you. It’s not going to be a big deal. Don’t even worry about that.”

Third, Tillerson said, “I want you to promise me that we are never going to have a public dispute, because that doesn’t serve anyone.”

In the New York real estate world, Trump had built a decades-long reputation for disparaging former business and romantic partners in the tabloid press after relationships turned sour.

“If you’re unhappy with me, call me and ream my ass out,” Tillerson said. “It’s all behind closed doors. Because when I walk out that door, I serve you and the American people. I will not disparage anybody. It’s just not in my nature.”

“Don’t worry,” Trump said, “we’re going to get along splendidly.”






THREE
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On December 1, in Cincinnati at his first rally on his election “thank you” tour, Trump announced, “We are going to appoint Mad Dog Mattis as our secretary of Defense.” The name Mad Dog was going to stick.

For his second “thank you” rally, in Fayetteville, North Carolina, the following week, the president-elect asked Mattis to join him as he formally introduced him as his nominee for secretary of defense on December 6. The event was being held near Fort Bragg, the home of the Army Special Operations Command and the famed 82nd Airborne Division. Bad weather kept them from flying in, so Mattis joined Trump for the long car ride in the rain through the North Carolina woods.

At one point, Trump confided he had chosen Rex Tillerson to be his secretary of state.

Tillerson will be great, perfect, Trump said, gushing about the Exxon CEO. This man has presence. He’d run one of the world’s largest, most successful organizations. Not part of the Washington establishment, untainted by the swamp. He was a dealmaker who negotiated oil contracts all over the world, including billions with Russia. For years he has negotiated with Putin, who awarded him the Russian Order of Friendship. Trump spoke as if he had hired the Michael Jordan of diplomacy. He loved that the Tillerson pick would defy all the conventional wisdom.

Mattis had never heard Trump talk about anyone with such admiration and respect.

God, Mattis thought, this is going to be great.



Since his retirement from the Marines three years earlier, Mattis had spent a good deal of time as a research fellow at the Hoover Institution, a conservative public policy think tank at Stanford University. Hoover had begun as a library started by President Herbert Hoover and was a comfortable perch for Mattis, who had 7,000 books in his personal library and was often referred to as the “Warrior Monk.”

At Hoover, he had befriended George Shultz, treasury secretary under Nixon and secretary of state under Reagan. Mattis was struck by an admonition in Shultz’s memoir about the necessity of having a stiff spine. When you disagreed with the president you served, you had to preserve your independence and hold your ground.

“To do the job well, you can’t want it too much,” Shultz told Mattis as he left Hoover.

After spending Christmas with his mother in Richland, Washington, Mattis flew to Washington, D.C. He heard Tillerson was in town too, and called him at his hotel on December 28.

“This is Jim Mattis,” he said. They hadn’t met, but “we might be working together.”

“Let me buy you dinner,” Tillerson said. “I’m living at the Jefferson Hotel. Why don’t you come on over tonight?”

Mattis, habitually early, was the first to arrive at the hotel’s Michelin-starred Plume restaurant. He slid into his seat at a special table set aside by staff in a discreet alcove in the back to give them privacy.

When Tillerson arrived and was shown to the alcove, he noticed Mattis was wearing a white shirt and a tie but no jacket. When Mattis stood, Tillerson glanced at his blue jeans and tennis shoes. “You and I are going to get along,” Tillerson said.

Tillerson believed you needed to know someone’s life story, their early years, to really understand who they were. He shared his. Raised in a lower-middle-class family in Texas, Tillerson had worked as a busboy and a janitor and had picked cotton on the weekends. His father delivered milk in a truck. Central to his life, Tillerson said, were the Boy Scouts. He had been an Eagle Scout and most recently president of the national Boy Scouts.

“Have you got family that are coming back to Washington with you?” Tillerson asked.

“Never been married,” Mattis said. “I was married to the Marine Corps.” He gave a summary of his 40-year career from the very bottom to four stars.

In some ways, Tillerson had also been wed to one institution. “At Exxon, I was always just so pleased to get a paycheck every two weeks,” Tillerson said. “They moved me around so much. By the time that I’d started figuring what I was doing, they’d move me to something I knew nothing about. And I’d have to start all over.”

They turned to their international experience. Mattis had served in the Gulf War and in Afghanistan and Iraq before rising to CentCom commander. Tillerson said he knew the world, having lived in Yemen, where he had run Exxon operations. “It’s almost like I’ve been on a 40-year listening tour.”

On Russia, Tillerson told Mattis about his longtime relationship with Putin, providing a shorter version than the one he had given Trump. But his bottom line was the same: The new president would have an opening with Putin and could perhaps even develop a constructive relationship.

Mattis did not agree with Tillerson. For him Russia, especially when it aligned with China, remained an ongoing threat and was not to be trusted.

Mattis and Tillerson were on a path neither could have possibly imagined six weeks earlier. They gingerly acknowledged that Trump might be a difficult boss. The new president was a student of Roy Cohn’s epic counterattacks, a bankrupt casino owner, a womanizer and a reality television star of The Apprentice who clearly relished bestowing the trademark “You’re fired!” on contestants.

Mattis proposed an idea born of experience.

Over the last 40 years, Mattis said, there had been some years when relations between the secretary of state and secretary of defense had been so bad they did not speak to each other or even so much as cross the Potomac River and shake hands.

“Jim,” Tillerson said, “how can that be? I understand they might not like each other,” but a collapsed working relationship seemed impossible and counterproductive.

Mattis explained there was nearly always tension between State and Defense.

For example, Secretary of State George Shultz complained privately that Defense Secretary Caspar Weinberger was wary and reluctant to use the military other than to deter the Soviet Union and prevent World War III. Even as the leader of the Defense Department he wanted diplomacy to solve all other problems around the world.

Shultz, in contrast, believed power and diplomacy needed to work in tandem. He characterized his difference with Weinberger as “a battle royal.”

Mattis said the one exception he had witnessed to State-Defense combat occurred when he was a colonel and military assistant to Secretaries of Defense William Perry and William Cohen during the later Bill Clinton years from 1996 to 1998. At the time, Madeleine Albright was secretary of state and Sandy Berger was national security adviser. The trio of Albright, Cohen and Berger had regular lunches and meetings. “Every week they settled things,” Mattis said.

Because President Clinton was focused on domestic matters and then later consumed by the Whitewater investigation and his eventual impeachment for lying about an affair with White House intern Monica Lewinsky, foreign and defense policy received little presidential attention. If the three—Cohen, Albright and Berger—presented a united front with a recommended course of action, Clinton would approve.

“The issues were probably appropriate that they be settled that way,” Mattis told Tillerson. The process served the interests, Mattis believed, of both Clinton and the foreign policy team.

A vivid example occurred in the middle of the impeachment of Clinton in December 1998. Iraqi dictator Saddam Hussein had repeatedly refused to admit weapons inspectors into facilities suspected of making weapons of mass destruction as required by a United Nations resolution. Cohen and the others told Clinton he had to bomb Iraq to establish his credibility and prove the United States was serious. The secretary of defense proposed an operation called Desert Fox, consisting of 650 bomber or missile sorties against 100 targets. This was no pinprick like Reagan’s 11-minute bombing of Libya by 30 Air Force and Navy bombers.

Clintonites in the White House were worried such a military action would be seen as a “wag the dog” tactic to distract from impeachment.

Cohen, backed by Albright and Berger, argued the opposite. “A failure to take action now will undercut our credibility,” Secretary Cohen told Clinton at a National Security Council meeting. “Our word is at stake. If we don’t carry it out, we’re going to be tested in the future. If you don’t act here, the next argument will be that you’re paralyzed” by the impeachment proceedings.

Clinton acquiesced. “I can’t consider anything else,” he said. “I have no choice.”

Desert Fox lasted three days. The operation killed or wounded 1,400 Iraqi military personnel, according to U.S. estimates. Saddam’s ambitions were tamed for several years.

We should work together in a similar way, Mattis said. “I think our foreign policy has been militarized over the last twenty years.” Too many wars, too many military actions. “I have seen too many boys die.”

Mattis had a startling proposal for Tillerson. “I want you in the lead on foreign policy. I’ll tell you what we can do, what I can’t do. I’ll tell you the risks. But when we get done, I don’t want the White House sorting it out between the two of us. You and I will sort it all out. And so let’s meet weekly. Let’s talk as often as necessary. When we walk in the White House, we’re joined at the hip.” Mattis held two fingers together to illustrate the unity. “That’s the way it is.”

Tillerson loved the plan. “I promise,” he said. “I don’t know how to even begin to formulate solutions to some of our foreign policy challenges if I don’t have the military standing right up against my back.” He arched his back and placed his hand on his spine for support. “Otherwise the guys”—the foreign diplomats—“I’m talking to aren’t going to pay a bit of attention to me.”

“You’re going to be in the driver’s seat for foreign policy,” Mattis said. “The bus would be driven by State Department diplomats.” Mattis would enhance the power of the diplomats by pressuring the military side, being tough. “Any country dealing with us would listen to their diplomats, because they didn’t want to deal with me”—Mattis and the powerful U.S. military.

Tillerson saw they had quickly closed on a working agreement. State and Defense would never go into a National Security Council meeting without having worked out a common position. If an open issue existed, they would find a common position.

As a general, Mattis’s job had been to carry out orders from the civilians—president, secretary of defense and National Security Council. But now he had to shift. He was no longer there just to carry out policy—“no cheery aye-aye, sir.” Tillerson and he were there to construct policy.

Mattis was surprised how simpatico he felt with Tillerson. He just knew he could work with him. Sometimes you sit down with someone and you know you can trust them.

Mattis continued, “My job is to try to keep the peace, or what passes for peace in this troubled world.” Mattis often liked to say, “Keep the peace one more year, one more month, one more day, one more hour as you guys [diplomats] work your magic.” America is still an inspiration, he added, but “Intimidation is necessary. That’s what I exist for. But it should generally be the last resort.”

Both men left Plume confident they would make it work between State and Defense.



Mattis spent the first three weeks in Washington preparing for his confirmation hearings, a period normally focused on meetings with senators who would vote on his nomination. Republican senators found him appealing, a consummate professional. But he quickly met a wall of silence from the Democrats in Congress. Not even routine courtesy calls. Then endorsements came from former Republican defense secretaries Donald Rumsfeld and Robert Gates, and former Democratic defense secretary Leon Panetta. Word began to spread that Mattis was the “good” Trump nominee.

Suddenly Senate Democratic Leader Chuck Schumer opened the door. Mattis experienced an unexpected flood of attention. The Democrats couldn’t see enough of him. He even met with democratic socialist Bernie Sanders and Mazie Hirono of Hawaii, bringing to about 50 the number of senators he met with from both parties. He seemed to be on a good footing for his confirmation.

During the confirmation process, the CIA and Defense Intelligence Agency gave him in-depth briefings, but protocol prevented any real contact with senior military leaders in the Pentagon. He could not presume he would be confirmed. But Mattis kept asking for the strategy. What was the plan? What was the current theory of the case for defending the United States? Trump made many promises during the campaign. How would they fit into the overall strategy?

But Mattis was not getting any answers. If he had learned one thing from his 40 years on active duty, it was essential to think these matters through, weigh them, debate them, test them against history. It was gut-wrenching to be shut off from such critical matters.

Mattis received his waiver and the Senate confirmed him, 98 to 1.



Later Tillerson was confirmed by the Senate 56 to 43, winning four votes from the Democratic Caucus. Trump gave him his personal cell phone number and said he could call him 24/7 and he would take the call. Trump also agreed to give Tillerson an hour on Tuesdays and Thursdays when the two of them would meet alone. Also, on Fridays, Trump would have lunch with both Tillerson and Mattis when all were in town.






FOUR

[image: ]

Just days after the election, Senator Dan Coats, an Indiana Republican, also received a call from Pence, one of his closest friends and confidants.

A calm and gentlemanly devout Christian, the 73-year-old Coats had served sixteen years in the Senate.

“You want a job?” Pence, a born-again Christian himself, asked Coats.

“No, no,” Coats said, “I don’t want a job!”



Pence knew Coats was on a different path. Pence, when governor of Indiana, had invited Coats and his wife, Marsha, to stop by for dinner with him and his wife, Karen, at Aynes House, the governor’s retreat in a rolling, wooded area about 45 minutes outside Indianapolis in Brown County.

Religion was a central force in the Coatses’ life. Dan and Marsha had met at Wheaton College, an evangelical liberal arts college in Illinois, 50 years earlier. The Wheaton College motto is “For Christ and His Kingdom.” Evangelist Billy Graham was a dominant and abiding influence at the school.

In a lengthy prayer session, the four agreed they needed to make some decisions about their futures. Should Pence run for president or a second term as governor? Should Coats seek another term in the Senate?

“We talked about the future and where God might lead each of us,” Coats later explained. “We prayed that God would be clear, and I think I raised the question that we should pray for clarity, not for what we want but clarity for what God would want.”

Coats did not believe any of them had a special line to God. “It is just simply built into our faith that ultimately we are his children, and he has a plan for us. And we don’t know what it is, and our job is to be obedient to ask for clarity, and then to fulfill it.”

Pence recounted the Old Testament story of David, who was hiding from King Saul in a cave when God sent a spider to weave a web across the cave opening. On seeing the web, Saul did not enter the cave. The spider had concealed David’s presence and saved his life. The story showed that even a spider might be an instrument of great salvation in the hand of God.

Marsha Coats, whose grandparents were ministers, had never heard a sermon as serious and deep. The story raised obvious questions. Could a spider, normally a cause for fear, bring salvation?

By the end of the dinner, two decisions emerged. Coats would not run for another Senate term after his term ended, and Pence would not run for president.

Pence’s unexpected selection as Trump’s running mate had taken them all by surprise.

In their post-election call, Pence proposed Coats come speak to Trump even if he did not want a job. He could describe how the Senate works.

Coats had been around long enough to know this was a recruitment tactic dressed up as a request for wise guidance. Coats bit anyway. In late November, he traveled to see the president-elect at Trump Tower in New York City. Coats was uneasy. When the Access Hollywood tape revealing Trump’s lewd comments about women surfaced during the campaign, Coats had blasted his party’s nominee on Twitter: “Donald Trump’s vulgar comments are totally inappropriate and disgusting.”

“So you want a job,” said Trump, acting as if he was unaware of or didn’t care about Coats’s earlier comments.

“No, no, I don’t want a job.”

“How about becoming an ambassador?”

“I’ve been an ambassador,” Coats said. He had served four years as ambassador to Germany for George W. Bush.

“How about Russia or China?” Trump asked, suggesting that would be a promotion.

Coats explained he had been banned from Russia several years earlier because of his vocal criticism of the Russian invasion of Crimea.

“That’s great,” Trump said, adding, “We’ll send you to Russia and that’ll really stick it to them!” Trump was clearly basking in his role as the future president.

Just then Trump was informed that Harold Hamm, a billionaire Oklahoma oilman and big Trump money man, had arrived.

“Bring him in,” Trump said. The more people around the better, it seemed. “This guy, he sticks a straw in the ground and up comes fucking oil,” Trump said. “Wherever he drills, he finds oil.”

The discussion quickly turned away from Coats to Hamm. Almost as an afterthought, Trump said he would call Coats about a job.

Coats left Trump Tower and didn’t hear anything for a few months. But a month after their meeting, Pence phoned again. “The president would like you to be director of national intelligence.”

Coats paused. The role, often referred to in its abbreviation DNI or as the intelligence czar, had been created in the wake of the massive information and coordination failures before the 9/11 terrorist attacks. This was one of the biggest jobs the president could offer—the top position in the intelligence world overseeing 17 intelligence agencies including the CIA and the National Security Agency, which intercepted worldwide communications. As a member of the Senate Intelligence Committee, Coats knew the post of DNI would virtually guarantee him admission to the president’s national security inner circle and the very center of the central nervous system of the American espionage establishment and its secrets.

Still, Coats was reluctant. Marsha urged him to take the job. “Such an awesome position, and powerful and kind of frightening,” she said.

She understood her husband’s uneasiness about Trump. He had split the Republican Party. Republican members of her own family had told her before the election they could not vote for Trump, even when he looked like the presumptive nominee. Marsha was the sole Republican committeewoman for Indiana, appointed by Pence three years earlier.

She asked her family members, who are you going to vote for, then?

We probably won’t vote, they said.

That’s not right, she said. They were Republicans. “As Americans, you need to vote. And that’s part of what living in a democracy is all about.”

One outspoken relative said of Trump, “He’s not a Christian. He’s not a nice person. He’s not a moral man.”

By then Marsha had sorted out her own position on Trump. Privately she knew he was, as she put it, “a philanderer and a womanizer, no doubt about that.” Trump was pro-life, however, and he had promised to fund a stronger military.

The family would not budge. As committeewoman, she needed to deliver the state of Indiana to the Republicans. And after Trump won the Indiana primary, Marsha Coats weighed in with a stark declaration of her endorsement in a public letter to fellow Indiana Republicans.

“I fear if we do not unite to support Donald Trump, we will again open the door for at least another four years of Washington implementing a left-wing agenda,” she wrote. “Conservatives stand to lose not only the White House and control of the executive agencies but also the Supreme Court.

“As a conservative, pro-life, evangelical, female Republican, I understand the conflict many in our party feel about supporting Donald Trump. Trump was not my first or even my second choice. He is not a humble man.

“I truly believe the office will change Donald Trump. I believe it will humble him. And I think even Donald will be impelled to turn to God for guidance.”

Dan Coats had even handed a copy of his wife’s open letter to Trump when the Republican nominee was in Indiana. Later Trump ran into Marsha Coats and promised, “I won’t let you down.” He put his arm round her and said to others there in a friendly, warm way, “She scolded me.”

“Trump is so controversial,” she later said to an associate. “He’s the kind of person that would inspire crazy people.”



Dan Coats accepted the DNI post. He concluded Pence was trying to seed the Trump cabinet with allies, people who shared his religious values, and he agreed to be nominated. As a former senator, he was easily confirmed in an 85 to 12 vote.

Real life set in immediately. Security personnel tore up the Coatses’ Northern Virginia home to set up a Sensitive Compartmented Information Facility (SCIF) in the basement of their three-story house to handle the most important and highly classified information. Cameras and a sophisticated security system also were installed, and intelligence and security personnel began manning the basement SCIF around the clock. Outside, security teams in 12-hour shifts sat in a car in front of their house. Privacy no longer existed. With all the people and apparatuses, Coats and his wife even worried that they were being spied on.

Soon after starting the job and attending his third intelligence briefing to the president, the President’s Daily Brief, Coats asked for some time alone with Trump.

“Mr. President,” Coats said, “there will be times when I will be walking in here to brief you on intelligence, and you’re not going to be happy with what I have to say.” That was his job, and he wanted the president to know it was not personal. Coats felt the declaration sort of freed him up.

In his first three months as DNI, Coats felt utterly overwhelmed. The intelligence culture was radically different from his world. His liberal arts and law degree background had been just right for the Senate. But the intelligence community was dominated by scientists, engineers and mathematicians, all driving the extraordinary technology of modern intelligence collection. Everyone talked in acronyms, codewords and ever-increasing levels of classification and special compartments for sensitive programs. Intel was rolling in from outer space to the sea bottom and everywhere in between.

Adding to the disorientation, Coats never knew which Trump he’d find in residence when he walked into the Oval Office three times a week for the President’s Daily Brief. The PDB was designed to give—and showcase—the most useful inside and high-level sensitive intelligence about national security issues. Some days, Trump would be in a fine mood, even good. Other days Trump would lash out abusively. “I don’t trust the intelligence,” he said, making it clear he saw the intelligence people as enemies.

To help reduce the stress, Marsha fixed nice dinners with wine, a special pleasure because they had once signed pledges at Wheaton College not to drink.

“Was it a good day or a bad day?” she would ask carefully, but with intense curiosity.

“It was a good meeting today,” he said sometimes. The president listened, asked good questions. Trump was smart and could be engaging and even charming.

Then there were bad days. “The president didn’t really want to hear the information, or if he heard it, he would disagree with it, say, I don’t believe that.”

Coats had hours of reading to finish at night, and the travel was nonstop. He’d regularly spend 23 or 24 hours on a plane to go to and get back from a conference in Singapore, for example.

The difference between his old friend Pence’s relationship to the intelligence agencies and Trump’s was stark. Pence visited all the U.S. intelligence agencies, spending two or three hours, wanting to learn, building up morale. Trump turned down Coats’s invitations to tour the NSA or elsewhere. Determined to convince the president of the intelligence agencies’ worth, Coats decided to bring the intelligence directors to the Oval Office. He asked each: What are your crown jewels of collection? He was looking for the incredible stuff that gave the United States a degree of security unimaginable to an outsider.

Trump responded best when Coats brought a Navy submarine captain to the Oval Office. The handsome, charismatic officer looked like a movie star. He described Top Secret programs that could track the submarines of Russia and China. In another program, United States submarines could pick up expended missiles off the bottom of the ocean that had been launched by adversaries.

Whoa! Trump said. That guy’s really something.

But the bad days were more frequent. Coats began to think Trump was impervious to facts. Trump had his own facts: Nearly everyone was an idiot, and almost every country was ripping off the United States. The steady stream of ranting was debilitating. The tension never abated, and Coats would not bend facts to suit the president’s preconceptions or desires. Coats was shocked. “Trump was on a different page than just about anything I believed in.”

Trump’s habit of tweeting at all hours of the day and night, including about important foreign policy matters, was personally disruptive for Coats. He found himself waking up in the middle of the night thinking, oh my God, what has he tweeted? Finally, Coats decided he would look at the tweets in the morning, concluding he could not let himself get in the habit of thinking he had to wake up at 2:00 or 3:00 a.m. just to see if there were any tweets. It was also clear to Coats that the tweeting meant Trump was not sleeping. What were the president’s sleep hours? Coats heard the president was starting his work day later and later, now 11:30 a.m. Maybe that was a clue.

Marsha was stunned at her husband’s reports about the president’s arrogance. “Who could go into this office of being president and not realize how inadequate they are? Anybody would feel like they needed divine help in order to tackle that job and do it well.”

Marsha, who had a degree in psychology and had once had a family-counseling practice, worried that her husband was dragging. He was losing weight. His shirts were hanging loosely on his body.

“Dan,” she said one night, “you’re going to be a failure at this job if you don’t start eating and sleeping and believing in yourself.

“You are disrespecting God. God put you here.” If you are not doing the job, she said, you are letting down not just the country or Trump. Being director of national intelligence was part of God’s plan for him. He was letting God down.

Marsha was tired of his complaining. “You wouldn’t be in this position if the Lord didn’t believe you were the right man for the job.”
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Bradley Byers, 38, a former Marine F-18 fighter pilot who had flown combat missions in Afghanistan and Iraq, joined Mattis’s office as a civilian liaison to the White House. He was part of a so-called “Beachhead Team” of three dozen Trump appointees at the Pentagon who did not have to be confirmed by the Senate. They were supposed to work in Mattis’s suite of offices at the Pentagon and give the White House leverage in Mattis’s operation.

The first week of the Trump administration, Trump was scheduled to come to the Pentagon on January 27 for a ceremonial swearing in of Mattis. The president also was in a dead sprint to sign as many executive orders as possible to demonstrate how he was changing government and overturning Obama’s legacy. He planned to sign some at the Pentagon.

“Brad,” Mattis said in the morning, “what executive orders does the president intend to sign?”

Byers did not know but promised to find out. He called and emailed the White House staff secretary’s office and cabinet affairs. The orders for the day were still being edited. There had been no NSC or cabinet meetings. Eventually the executive orders were sent by email.

Trump was arriving. The orders were printed out and each put in a leather folder.

Byers finally looked at the second one, titled “Protecting the Nation from Foreign Terrorist Entry into the United States.” It was a travel ban preventing people from seven majority-Muslim countries from entering the United States.

Six months earlier, as a civilian, Mattis had publicly criticized candidate Trump’s proposed ban on Muslim immigrants. In the Middle East, Mattis had said, “they think we’ve completely lost it. This kind of thing is causing us great damage right now, and it’s sending shock waves.”

Mattis was ceremonially sworn in at the Pentagon’s Hall of Heroes, which honored more than 3,000 service members who had received the Congressional Medal of Honor, the highest combat award. He thanked Trump and Pence and welcomed them to “the headquarters of your military, your always loyal military, where America’s awesome determination to defend herself is on full display.”

Trump, professing “total confidence” in Mattis, called him “a man of total action. He likes action.”

As the ceremony came to a close, Trump signed the travel ban order and handed it to Mattis. Mattis was stunned.

As soon as the news broke, some veterans in the Congressional Medal of Honor Society immediately conveyed their fury that the hall had been used as a staging ground for the controversial travel ban. Their blunt message to Mattis: That’s not what we fought for.

Mattis felt it was a gross process error. There was no process. Who was deciding these things?

The travel ban, which began as a campaign promise Trump made in December 2015 when he called for “a total and complete shutdown of Muslims entering the United States until our country’s representatives can figure out what the hell is going on,” became a symbol of Trump’s anti-immigrant attitudes and policies.



On March 19, 2017, The Washington Post ran an article saying that many in the Pentagon privately called Byers “the commissar,” a Soviet-era communist official who was supposed to monitor the loyalty of commanders.

Mattis saw the article and asked Byers to stick around after the morning meetings.

“I suppose you read the article,” Mattis said. “If you’re going to float around these circles, you better get used to it. They will either figure out the bad stuff about you, or they’ll make it up.” He told some funny stories about times he thought the press got it wrong about him when he was a general.

When Byers left the office, a large group was standing outside for another meeting.

“Hey, young man,” Mattis said loudly, so everyone could hear, “you keep your sense of humor. And when all else fails, fuck ’em!”

“So the White House thinks you’re their guy,” Mattis later told Byers, “and I’ve got you.” Mattis made it clear he did not want any daylight in public between himself and President Trump on any issue. That way Mattis could have influence. Any public daylight could be fatal.



In early April, Trump ordered a modest response of 59 Tomahawk missiles at Syria’s Shayrat Airbase as punishment for Bashar al-Assad’s use of chemical weapons.

The next morning, Trump phoned Mattis at the Pentagon in what was supposed to be a congratulatory call. Mattis put Trump on the speakerphone and some of the senior staff gathered around his desk to listen.

Trump had seen photos of the damage. “I can’t believe you didn’t destroy the runway!” the president shouted. He was in a rage and seemed beside himself.

“Mr. President,” Mattis finally responded, “they would rebuild the runway in 24 hours and it would have little effect on their ability to deploy weapons. We destroyed the capability to deploy weapons” for months. That was the mission the president had approved, and they had succeeded.



In April, Byers carried a letter from Secretary of Commerce Wilbur Ross to Mattis about an investigation into steel and aluminum tariffs the president, a strong believer in tariffs, had ordered. The president believed domestic production of steel was in jeopardy because of cheaper foreign imported steel.

“Brad,” Mattis said after reading the letter, “I’ve got North Korea, I’ve got Syria, I’ve got the Horn of Africa all on fire. I don’t give a shit about steel.” But he did care about the alliance with South Korea—a major exporter of steel. Any tariff could severely damage the critical relationship. “Deal with it,” Mattis said.

Mattis sent a memo to the White House reporting that “U.S. military steel usage represents one-half percent of the total U.S. steel demand” and the military would be able “to acquire the steel necessary to meet national defense requirements.”

Byers kept Mattis informed weekly, if not daily, about White House tariff discussions. Dealing with it meant that Byers literally took Mattis’s place at the cabinet-level meetings.

At 10:00 a.m. on June 26, Byers sat at Mattis’s placard in the Roosevelt Room for the cabinet-level meeting on steel tariffs. Byers took notes. The debate turned on how best to impose tariffs. Byers found the lack of context or definition of the problem rendered the talks aimless.

“The president is expecting to come in,” said Reince Priebus, the chief of staff. “I’m going to advise him that we’re not ready for him.” He left for the Oval Office and came back in about two minutes. “Against my advice,” the chief of staff said, visibly nervous, “the president wants to hear this debate.”

Soon Trump walked in and everyone stood.

“We’re going to put a tariff on all steel and aluminum, on everything coming in,” the president said, “and see what happens.”

This approach drove Gary Cohn, the chief White House economic adviser, crazy. He had argued passionately that the American economy was too important to haphazardly experiment with.

The president added that they should not worry about NAFTA, the North American Free Trade Agreement, which he was trying to renegotiate. Then he shifted to trade deficits, especially with South Korea.

“We are a consumer-driven economy,” Cohn said, reminding the president of the consequences of imposing tariffs. “And the prices are going to go up. And that’s going to have a significant impact on our gross domestic product”—overall economic growth.

“We need three percent gross domestic product growth,” Mick Mulvaney, the director of the Office of Management and Budget, agreed, “or we are out of business.”

“The world is taking advantage of us,” Trump said, batting away their concerns, “and it’s time for a change. I would love to leave South Korea.” America was being taken advantage of. The United States was paying to keep 30,000 troops in South Korea to protect South Koreans. “We are the piggy bank that everyone wants to rob.”

Trump was jovial and dropped several F-bombs. “Don’t worry about everything.”

Cohn offered one more argument against steel tariffs. “We’re not a steel-producing nation. We’re a goods-producing nation. If we increase the price of steel, our goods become overpriced and we can’t compete.”

The internal White House war for and against tariffs continued.



Byers was in the Oval Office, seated by the Resolute Desk, on July 21 as Trump signed an executive order to assess how to strengthen the manufacturing and defense industrial base.

“You were a wrestler?” Trump asked Byers.

“Yes, sir, I was,” Byers replied. He had been the captain of the North Carolina wrestling team for two years and qualified three times for the NCAA championships. “Why would you ask?”

“Those ears,” the president said. “You have wrestling ears.” This was classic cauliflower ear, the buildup of fibrous tissue from repeated impacts. “Were you any good?”

“Yes, sir. I can hold my own.”

“I bet you were good,” Trump said. “You know what? I would’ve been a great wrestler. I never wrestled in my life, but I would’ve been a great wrestler. You know why?”

“No sir. Why?”

“Because I’m tough,” Trump said. “And you’ve got to be tough to be a wrestler.”

Trump had hosted several pro-wrestling events and even participated in a “Battle of the Billionaires” in 2007. He was inducted into the World Wrestling Entertainment Hall of Fame in 2013.

Trump signed the executive order and they all posed for a picture. The group included White House trade adviser Peter Navarro.

“Peter,” Trump said, “I need you to take charge of negotiations on steel.” Trump said that U.S. trade representative Robert Lighthizer and Commerce Secretary Wilbur Ross were weak negotiators and that Navarro needed to be tough, hard-line.

Trump added, “Not to mention my fucking generals are a bunch of pussies. They care more about their alliances than they do about trade deals.”

Navarro appeared to be flattered by Trump’s remark and said he would be happy to take over the negotiations.

Once Byers returned to the Pentagon, he asked Mattis for a private meeting. They met alone the next day.

“What’s on your mind?” Mattis asked.

There was an interchange in the Oval Office involving the president that I should tell you about, and it’s very uncomfortable, Byers said.

“Brad, don’t you worry at all,” Mattis said. “Just tell me what happened.”

Byers explained the president had mentioned that generals weren’t tough enough on steel and aluminum tariffs and were more worried about alliances.

“Tell me exactly what he said.”

The president said, Byers recounted, “my fucking generals are a bunch of pussies. They care more about their alliances than they do about trade deals.”

Byers could see the secretary’s mind racing to assess the situation. For the president to speak that way in front of a subordinate like Byers and others was a gross violation of a basic Leadership 101 principle—praise in public, criticize in private.

“Brad,” Mattis said, “I really appreciate your telling me that. Would you mind putting that in an email for me?”

Byers followed Mattis’s order and wrote an email to document what had occurred.
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On January 26, 2017, the sixth day of the Trump presidency, Matt Pottinger—then head of Asia policy for the National Security Council staff and not yet the deputy national security adviser—was summoned to a meeting with the new president.

Trump said that President Obama had told him that North Korea would be his biggest, most dangerous and most time-consuming problem. Kim Jong Un, the 32-year-old erratic leader, had nuclear weapons and could be well on his way to building an intercontinental ballistic missile that could reach the United States.

What should I do? Trump asked Pottinger.

Pottinger thought the Obama administration policy toward North Korea of “strategic patience” had been a disaster. As he saw it, the strategy had broadly been to hope the regime fell apart on its own and crawled to the negotiating table.

Within a month Pottinger had options for Trump—literally nine, but better understood as three big options with shades of difference. The range went from accepting North Korea as a nuclear power all the way to regime change either through CIA covert action or a military attack.

On March 17, two months after his inauguration, Trump decided on a policy of maximum pressure—ratcheting up economic, rhetorical, military, diplomatic pressure and, if necessary, covert action. The campaign was designed to show Kim he was in greater danger and would pay a bigger price with nuclear weapons than he would without them. The overall goal was denuclearization.

The economic pressure was set up to choke off North Korea’s ability to make money in its overseas embassies and missions in 48 countries. Economic sanctions were imposed that banned 100 percent of North Korean coal exports. Nations that allowed North Koreans to work within them agreed to push them out. North Korean restaurants and other overseas businesses connected to the regime were shut down. North Korean seafood operations abroad, which were run by Kim’s military to make money, were targeted. Oil imports were cut off.



One of Trump’s first nominations just two weeks after being elected president had been Representative Mike Pompeo, who had served three terms in the House, as CIA director. An evangelical Tea Party Republican, Pompeo, 52, graduated from West Point in 1986 first in his class of 973. He also had a Harvard Law degree.

Around the beginning of March, Pompeo met at the CIA with Andy Kim, a legendary CIA operator who had just retired after 29 years running some of the agency’s most successful intelligence operations against North Korea.

Born in South Korea, Andy Kim had come to the United States as a teenager with his immigrant parents. Fluent in Korean and educated at one of the elite high schools of South Korea, Kim was an ideal, sophisticated undercover operator. He fit in. He knew the language and culture and was well connected to the South Korean leadership class. He knew how to read between the lines of all the scary shibboleths about North Korea and could figure out which must be true or not.

A CIA case officer for decades, Andy Kim had recruited and built relationships with spies and assessed them and the quality of their information. He had operated undercover from U.S. embassies in Tokyo, then Beijing, Warsaw, Hong Kong, back to China, then Seoul, and finally Bangkok, Thailand.

Pompeo said that North Korea was at the top of President Trump’s agenda. He wanted to eliminate the threat from North Korea to the United States homeland and rid North Korea of its nuclear weapons.

What would you do? Pompeo asked. How would you go about accomplishing this ambitious goal?

As Pompeo knew from his time on the House Intelligence Committee, the CIA collected intelligence mostly from human sources, analyzed that intelligence to describe what it might mean for U.S. national security, and also conducted covert action to change events abroad to further U.S. policy. Ideally covert action would be done without the United States’ role being discovered or known.

You have talented people in the CIA, Kim told Pompeo. But those talents are spread around the agency in the different departments of collection, analysis and covert action. If you really want to change, you need to bring those people under one tent to create synergy. That would be challenging.

Kim said the culture in the agency wedded people to their departments. Departments protected their turf and didn’t share the best information even when they should. One tent had been needed for a long time. The CIA had done this successfully for other geographic areas but not North Korea. Somebody new with new ideas was needed, he said.

Like Pottinger with Trump, Andy Kim told Pompeo that Obama’s policy of strategic patience had not worked. In practice it had meant not engaging with North Korea, handicapping the CIA and the U.S. government. Not engaging meant not understanding. Kim Jong Un was new, having come to power only six years ago. “We are still trying to figure out who Kim Jong Un is and what makes him tick,” he explained. There is an opportunity there to try something different.

Will you come back to create a North Korea mission center with control over all collection, analysis and covert action to engage? Pompeo finally asked.

Kim said he would need new resources. Covert action, especially if it was going to be planned and undertaken, would require lots of new money. But it was too late—the budget was set for the year.

Pompeo said he could get him the money he needed.

Kim said a fully enabled North Korea mission center would involve hundreds of people—some already there and some that would be new.

Pompeo promised. “I will support you.”

After an hour, Kim accepted the job. He would return. As a case officer, his job had been to assess people. Pompeo was determined, mission-focused and no-nonsense. Pompeo might be the guy who had the clout and energy to follow through, Kim reasoned.

But then again Kim had seen enough of the government and the CIA to know people with the right ideas and right energy often got sucked into bureaucratic traditions and were never able to shake themselves loose and accomplish anything. Good people wanted to be the good guy in the system and the team, make no waves, get promoted to bigger and better jobs.

The recent CIA history on covert action was bleak as well. Prior to the 2003 military invasion of Iraq, the CIA had effectively washed its hands of any possible operation to overthrow Iraqi leader Saddam Hussein, saying it was too hard.

In the CIA’s reexamination of its role following the spectacular failure of the Iraq War, the Iraq Operations Group was referred to as “The House of Broken Toys” and CIA leadership concluded it was an abdication of responsibility to not give a president covert action options. In retrospect, overthrowing Saddam through covert action, though difficult and risky in the extreme, would have been so much less costly in terms of lives and money.

Mattis planned military operations for North Korea, and Tillerson made the diplomatic efforts. Kim, in turn, planned for covert action to overthrow the North Korean leader in the event President Trump signed a formal order, called a finding, authorizing an operation.
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